BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-162

Clerk of the Court
Received 04/02/2024 11:33 AM
Resubmitted 04/02/2024 12:13 PM
Filed 04/02/2024 12:13 PM

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellant,

v.

DAMAIRZIO M. WELLS,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JOHN P. MANNARINO D. WILLIAM LAWRENCE MEGAN E. MCFADDEN

- * DANIEL J. LENERZ DC Bar #888283905 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Daniel.Lenerz@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CF3-004555

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the trial court erred when it applied the exclusionary rule to suppress evidence obtained as a result of GPS monitoring of a supervised releasee imposed by the Court Services and Offender Supervision Agency (CSOSA) in a manner this Court subsequently declared improper, where the trial court found no misconduct by CSOSA or its employees, and where the 20-year history of CSOSA's use of GPS monitoring in accordance with formal regulations promulgated by both CSOSA and the U.S. Parole Commission, with Congress's and this Court's knowledge and assent, precludes any such finding and otherwise establishes that application of the rule is not necessary to deter CSOSA from committing future Fourth Amendment violations.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-162

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellant,

v.

DAMAIRZIO M. WELLS,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Introduction

The Supreme Court has made clear that the exclusion of evidence in response to a Fourth Amendment violation, while sometimes necessary, should be done "only as a 'last resort." (Willie Gene) Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 237 (2011) (quoting Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006)). "For exclusion to be appropriate, the deterrence benefits of suppression must outweigh its heavy costs." Id. This costbenefit analysis focuses "on the 'flagrancy of the police misconduct' at

issue." Id. at 238 (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 909 (1984)). "When the police exhibit 'deliberate,' "reckless,' or 'grossly negligent' disregard for Fourth Amendment rights, the deterrent value of exclusion is strong and tends to outweigh the resulting costs." Id. (quoting Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 144 (2009)). However, "when the police act with an objectively reasonable good-faith belief that their conduct is lawful, or when their conduct involves only simple, isolated negligence, the deterrence rationale loses much of its force, and exclusion cannot pay its way." Id. (cleaned up).

The trial court's order excluding the GPS evidence in this case violated these basic precepts. When appellee Damairzio Wells's Community Supervision Officer (CSO) required him to wear a GPS monitor as a sanction for Wells's violation of the conditions of his supervised release, she did so in reliance on CSOSA policy, which was based in turn on longstanding regulations promulgated by both CSOSA and the United States Parole Commission. Those agencies promulgated their regulations pursuant to formal, notice-and-comment rulemaking, and CSOSA informed Congress on numerous occasions that it imposed GPS monitoring as an administrative sanction. Over the past decade, this

Court has repeatedly discussed CSOSA's use of GPS monitoring as a sanction imposed without express court or Parole Commission direction, and has rejected multiple Fourth Amendment challenges to that practice. Although a divided panel of the Court recently determined that CSOSA had exceeded its statutory authority when it promulgated the regulations pursuant to which its CSOs impose GPS monitoring, that disagreement with CSOSA's interpretation of its legal authority hardly establishes that CSOSA or Wells's CSO acted with "deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent disregard for Fourth Amendment rights." (Willie Gene) Davis, 564 U.S. at 237 (quotation marks omitted). To the contrary, both CSOSA and Wells's CSO engaged in precisely the kind of good-faith conduct that "lacks the culpability required to justify the harsh sanction of exclusion." Id.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual Background

At approximately 6:00 p.m. on July 3, 2023, Wells met his victim, A.J., in the parking lot of America's Best Wings on Alabama Avenue, SE (Record on Appeal (R.) 43 at 1). Wells drove A.J. to the intersection of Burns Street and Fairlawn Avenue, SE, where he pulled out a gun,

pointed it at A.J., and ordered her to leave her belongings and get out of the vehicle (*id*.). She did so, and then Wells drove away with A.J.'s iPad, Android phone, iPhone, purse, and wallet (*id*.).

A.J. borrowed a phone and called 911 (R.43 at 2). When the police arrived, she recounted the crime and described her assailant, including that he was not wearing a shirt and had tattoos all over his face, neck, and body (*id.*). Soon thereafter, Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) investigative analysts identified Wells as a "GPS High Hit" based on data from a GPS device he was wearing that indicated Wells had been in the locations A.J. identified at times corresponding to her description of the crime (*id.*). Data from Wells's GPS device showed that, after robbing A.J. at gunpoint, he had gone to 5325 Bass Place, SE (*id.*).

MPD officers went to that address and, at approximately 7:20 p.m., saw Wells, who was not wearing a shirt and had tattoos on his face, neck, and body (R.43 at 3). They detained him and searched the public area of the apartment building at 5325 Bass Place (*id.* at 4). Officers found A.J.'s iPad and Android phone inside a shopping bag behind a trashcan in the laundry room (*id.*). After A.J. identified Wells as her assailant, the officers arrested and searched Wells and found A.J.'s bank card and food-

stamp card in his pocket (id.). Officers then obtained search warrants for Wells's apartment and car (id.). They found a gun in Wells's apartment and matching ammunition and cartridge casings in his car (id.).

Procedural History

On November 30, 2023, a grand jury indicted Wells for armed robbery and various firearms offenses (R.31). Wells subsequently moved to suppress the evidence from his GPS device and all other evidence MPD obtained because of its use of that data (R.42). Wells argued that, under this Court's recent decision in *Davis v. United States*, 306 A.3d 89 (D.C. 2023), CSOSA had improperly imposed GPS monitoring without a warrant and without statutory authority (R.42 at 3).¹

The government opposed Wells's motion (R.43). It did not dispute that Wells's CSO had required him to wear a GPS monitor as an administrative sanction based on Wells's non-compliance with the conditions of his supervised release (id. at 6), and that this Court's subsequent decision in Davis meant that Wells's CSO had lacked authority to do so in the absence of an express order by the Superior

 $^{^1}$ The government refers to the Supreme Court's opinion as (Willie Gene) Davis, see supra at 1, and to this Court's opinion as Davis.

Court or the U.S. Parole Commission (id. at 7). The government argued, however, that exclusion was not appropriate because neither Wells's CSO nor CSOSA had acted with the culpability necessary to justify application of the exclusionary rule (id. at 15-18). In reply, Wells primarily argued that exclusion was necessary to deter CSOSA as an agency from committing future Fourth Amendment violations (R.52). He also asserted that "judicial economy compels th[e] Court to send this case to the D.C. Court of Appeals for further clarification," and that, "[i]n the interest of justice and judicial efficiency, th[e] Court should suppress the GPS evidence in this case, as Davis mandates it to do" (R.53 at 1, 4).

In a February 1, 2024, oral ruling, the Honorable Erol Arthur granted the motion to suppress (2/1/24 p.m. Transcript (Tr.) 9). In Judge Arthur's view, this Court's opinion in *Davis* provided "a roadmap" and required suppression (*id.* at 7-9). Judge Arthur rejected the government's exclusionary rule argument because *Davis* "didn't address that issue," and because he was "not willing at this stage . . . to sidestep the [C]ourt's ruling in *Davis*," which is what he "believe[d] the Government [wa]s asking [him] to do" (*id.* at 8, 9). Judge Arthur thus suppressed both the

GPS evidence and its fruits (id.). The government timely appealed (R.57). See D.C. App. R. 4(b)(1).

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 23-104(a)(1).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it excluded the GPS evidence in this case. Contrary to the trial court's stated reason for suppressing the evidence, this Court's opinion in *Davis* did not decide whether application of the exclusionary rule is appropriate under these circumstances. And fundamental exclusionary rule principles demonstrate that it is not. As the Supreme Court has repeatedly made clear, exclusion is appropriate only when the relevant conduct is sufficiently culpable that exclusion can meaningfully deter it, and where the benefits of deterrence outweigh the substantial costs imposed when courts must ignore reliable, trustworthy evidence.

Here, this cost-benefit analysis tilts decisively against exclusion.

Neither Wells's CSO nor CSOSA as an agency acted with the requisite deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent disregard for Fourth

Amendment rights necessary to justify exclusion. Wells's CSO acted in objectively good-faith reliance on CSOSA's longstanding regulations, formal policy, and this Court's decision upholding CSOSA's use of GPS monitoring against constitutional attack. CSOSA's agency-level actions similarly nonculpable. CSOSA's decades-long use of GPS were monitoring as an administrative sanction was based on regulations it had promulgated pursuant to formal, notice-and-comment rulemaking, which interpreted its statutory authority and implemented the Parole Commission's requirement that supervised releasees comply with CSOSA's administrative-sanctions regime. At no time until this Court's decision in *Davis* did anyone—the Parole Commission, Congress, or this that CSOSA's of GPS Court—suggest use monitoring an administrative sanction was improper. There was thus no misconduct by CSOSA to deter. And even if exclusion might have some minimal theoretical deterrent value, that benefit is outweighed by the high cost of suppression, which would affect not only this case, but the many pending cases where the government's investigation relied upon GPS data obtained as a result of motoring imposed by CSOSA over the past two decades.

ARGUMENT

I. Davis Does Not Control the Exclusionary Rule Issue Presented in this Appeal.

The trial court excluded the evidence in this case based on its incorrect belief that this Court's opinion in *Davis* was controlling on that issue. As *Davis* itself makes clear, a decision is not binding where the parties have not "raised [the issue] . . . to the court's attention and trained the 'judicial mind' upon it." 306 A.3d at 97 (quoting *District of Columbia v. Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d 354, 359-60 (D.C. 1996)). Stated more fully:

Questions which merely lurk in the record, neither brought to the attention of the court nor ruled upon, are not to be considered as having been so decided as to constitute precedents. The rule of stare decisis is never properly invoked unless in the decision put forward as precedent the judicial mind has been applied to and passed upon the precise question. A point of law merely assumed in an opinion, not discussed, is not authoritative.

Murphy v. McCloud, 650 A.2d 202, 205 (D.C. 1994) (cleaned up).

In *Davis*, applicability of the exclusionary rule was merely "assumed in [the] opinion, not discussed." *Murphy*, 650 A.2d at 205 (quotation marks omitted). The parties did not brief the applicability of the exclusionary rule and the Court's opinion did not discuss whether exclusion was required under governing exclusionary rule precedent.

Instead, the majority opinion simply stated that "the GPS data collected from Mr. Davis should have been suppressed under a special needs analysis." *Davis*, 306 A.3d at 111. This conclusory statement does not resolve the exclusionary rule issue now before the Court, which was "neither brought to the attention of the court nor ruled upon[.]" *Murphy*, 650 A.2d at 205 (quotation marks omitted). For that reason, *Davis* is "not authoritative," *id.*, on the question whether the exclusionary rule should apply despite the lack of any bad faith or misconduct by Wells's CSO or CSOSA as a whole.

II. Application of the Exclusionary Rule is Inappropriate Here, Where There was no Misconduct and Suppression is Unnecessary to Deter Future Fourth Amendment Violations.

The trial court's exclusion of the evidence in this case was erroneous as a matter of fundamental exclusionary rule principles. As the Supreme Court has repeatedly made clear, for exclusion to be justified, "the benefits of deterrence must outweigh the costs." *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 141. Here, where both CSOSA and Wells's CSO acted in good faith, the benefits of deterrence are minimal to nonexistent. And exclusion of GPS evidence "would come at a high cost to both the truth and the public

safety," (Willie Gene) Davis, 564 U.S. at 231, not just in this case, but in the many cases where the government's investigation relied upon GPS data obtained as a result of monitoring imposed by CSOSA.

A. Additional Background

1. Statutory and Regulatory History

Congress created CSOSA in the National Capital Revitalization and Self-Government Improvement Act of 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-33, § 11233(a), 111 Stat. 251, 748-51 (Revitalization Act). At the time, Congress tasked CSOSA with "supervis[ing] any offender who is released from imprisonment for any term of supervised release imposed by the Superior Court of the District of Columbia[,]" § 11233(c)(2), and ordered it to "develop and operate intermediate sanctions programs for sentenced offenders[,]" § 11233(b)(2)(F). Congress made those supervised releasees "subject to the authority of the United States Parole Commission[,]" and granted the Commission, with some exceptions, "the same authority as is vested in the United States district courts by [18 U.S.C. § 3583(d)-(i).]" § 11233(c)(2).

Soon thereafter, both the Parole Commission and CSOSA promulgated formal regulations pursuant to notice-and-comment

rulemaking interpreting this statutory grant of authority.² In its regulations, the Commission adopted conditions that "shall apply to every term of supervised release[.]" Offenders Serving Terms of Supervised Release Imposed by the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, 65 Fed. Reg. 70466, 70468 (Nov. 24, 2000) (interim rule with request for comments). Among other things, the Commission required each supervised releasee in the District of Columbia to "submit to the sanctions imposed by his Community Supervision Officer (within the limits established by the CSOSA Administrative Sanctions Schedule)[.]" *Id.* at 70469. The Commission's regulations provided that those "[g]raduated sanctions may include . . . curfew with electronic monitoring[.]" *Id.*

Although the language of Commission's regulations changed over time, the substance stayed the same: all supervised releasees "supervised by CSOSA . . . must comply with the sanction(s) imposed by the

_

² With some exceptions, "Section 553 of the Administrative Procedure Act [5 U.S.C. § 553] requires agencies to afford notice of a proposed rulemaking and an opportunity for public comment prior to a rule's promulgation, amendment, modification, or repeal." *Am. Hosp. Ass'n v. Bowen*, 834 F.2d 1037, 1044 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

supervision officer and as established by an approved schedule of graduated sanctions." 28 C.F.R. § 2.204(a)(6)(vi). See Paroling, Recommitting, and Supervising Federal Prisoners: Prisoners Serving Sentences Under the United States and District of Columbia Codes, 79 Fed. Reg. 51254, 51259 (Aug. 28, 2014) (final rule). None of the comments that the Parole Commission received in response to its most recent notice of proposed rulemaking that included this requirement, 78 Fed. Reg. 11998, 12001 (Feb. 21, 2013)—including comments from the Public Defender Service, 79 Fed. Reg. at 51254–55—asserted that this delegation of authority to CSOSA was improper.

CSOSA, in turn, created a sanctions schedule that listed "[a]dministrative sanctions available to" CSOs, including "electronic monitoring for a specified period of time." Community Supervision: Administrative Sanctions Schedule, 66 Fed. Reg. 48336, 48338 (Sept. 20, 2001) (interim rule with request for comments). When promulgating its final rule formalizing this regulation, 28 C.F.R. § 810.3(b), CSOSA explained that "[r]egulations issued by the [Parole Commission] . . . authorize[d] CSOSA's community supervision officers to impose graduated sanctions[.]" Community Supervision: Administrative

68 Fed. Reg. 19738, 19738 (Apr. 22, 2003). These administrative sanctions gave each CSO "a range of corrective actions . . . which can be applied short of court or [Parole Commission] approval." *Id.* The purpose of the sanctions was to allow CSOs "to respond as swiftly, certainly, and consistently as practicable to non-compliant behavior," which would both "reduce the number of violation reports sent to the releasing authority (for example, the sentencing court or the United States Parole Commission)[,]" and also "prevent crime, reduce recidivism, and support the fair administration of justice[.]" Id. Both the Parole Commission and CSOSA recognized that the Commission retained authority to "override the imposition of a graduated sanction at any time[.]" 65 Fed. Reg. at 70469; see also 66 Fed. Reg. at 48338 (similar); 28 C.F.R. § 810.3(c) ("the [Parole Commission] may override the imposition of any of the sanctions in paragraph (b) of this section").

CSOSA began using GPS as a form of electronic monitoring under its administrative-sanctions regime in fiscal year 2004. See Advancements and Continual Challenges in the Parole, Supervised Release and Revocation of D.C. Code Offenders: Hearing before the H. Subcomm. on Fed. Workforce, Postal Service, and D.C. of the Comm. on

Oversight and Gov't Reform, 110th Cong. 22 (2008) (statement of Paul A. Quander, Jr., Director, CSOSA). Following that pilot program, in May 2009, CSOSA issued a policy statement allowing CSOs to sanction offenders by requiring them to submit to GPS monitoring. See Policy Statement 4008, "Global Positioning System (GPS) Tracking of Offenders" (May 7, 2009), available at https://perma.cc/2DWK-CPQB. The policy statement provided, among other things:

In response to non-compliant behavior or identified risk, the CSO may implement GPS monitoring as a sanction on the offender for up to thirty (30) calendar days. Where aggravating circumstances exist, such as continuous curfew violations, new arrest, loss of contact, or positive drug tests, the length of time the offender is placed on GPS tracking may be extended for up to a total of ninety (90) calendar days, upon documented approval of an S[upervisory]CSO.

Id. at 5.

The Parole Commission was well aware that CSOSA used GPS monitoring as an administrative sanction: CSOSA "reports regularly to the Commission on each offender it supervises for the Commission," and also schedules "internal and informal" reprimand sanction hearings with Commissioners for offenders whose "behavior is becoming questionable[.]" The Local Role of the U.S. Parole Commission: Increasing Public Safety, Reducing Recidivism, and Using Alternatives to Re-

incarceration in the District of Columbia: Hearing before the H. Subcomm. on Fed. Workforce, Postal Service, and D.C. of the Comm. on Oversight and Gov't Reform, 111th Cong. 10 (2009) (statement of Isaac Fulwood, Jr., Chairman, U.S. Parole Commission). Likewise, CSOSA repeatedly informed Congress that it used GPS monitoring as an administrative sanction without express Commission or court approval. See Davis, 306 A.3d at 114-15 (Thompson, J., dissenting) (identifying examples). For example, the same year that CSOSA adopted its GPS Policy Statement, CSOSA's Acting Director testified that, "[t]hrough a system of graduated sanctions, CSOSA imposes increasingly restrictive penalties on offenders for violating their release conditions. Sanctions can include . . . GPS monitoring[.]" The Local Role of the U.S. Parole Commission, 111th Cong. 27 (statement of Adrienne Poteat). During that hearing, Representative Eleanor Holmes Norton declared herself "fascinated" by CSOSA's use of GPS monitoring and asked numerous questions about its efficacy. Id. at 90, 102.

At no time did Congress suggest that CSOSA's imposition of GPS monitoring as an administrative sanction exceeded CSOSA's statutory authority. To the contrary, in 2016, Congress expanded CSOSA's

authority so that it could offer incentives in addition to imposing sanctions. See District of Columbia Courts, Public Defender Service, and Court Services and Offender Supervision Agency Act of 2015, Pub. L. 114-118, § 3(a), 130 Stat. 9, 13 (2016). Specifically, Congress amended D.C. Code § 24-133(b)(2)(F) to require CSOSA's director to "[d]evelop and operate intermediate sanctions and incentives programs for sentenced offenders[.]" (added language emphasized). In so doing, Congress recognized that CSOSA had "specific statutory authority to punish sentenced offenders." S. Rep. No. 114-110, at 2 (2015).

2. This Court's GPS Cases

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