Appeal No. 24-CO-162



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 05/01/2024 05:08 PM Filed 05/01/2024 05:08 PM

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellant,

v.

DAMAIRZIO M. WELLS,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

SAMIA FAM

* PAUL MANERI

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 3rd Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

* Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

As Justice Sotomayor explained in *(Willie Gene) Davis*, that conclusion holds true regardless of whether the law enforcement conduct "can be characterized as 'culpable." 564 U.S. at 251 (Sotomayor, J., concurring). A hypothetical helps to demonstrate. Suppose an officer knows that the law governing a particular search tactic is unsettled in this jurisdiction, and that courts elsewhere in the country are divided on the issue. After studying the competing cases, he forms an objectively reasonable and honestly held—but ultimately incorrect—belief that the practice is lawful. Having satisfied himself of the tactic's legality, he conducts a search of this type on the street and turns up evidence of a crime.

Now suppose that after the officer conducts his search, this Court decides that the search was unconstitutional. It would strain our familiar conceptions of *mens rea* to describe the officer as demonstrating a "deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent disregard for Fourth Amendment rights." *(Willie Gene) Davis*, 564 U.S. at 238. Still, *Debruhl* and *Jones* plainly, and appropriately, require that the evidence obtained from the officer's unlawful search be suppressed. That makes sense: regardless of what the officer believed, the unconstitutional search was, by definition, objectively unreasonable. *See* U.S. Const. amend. IV. And in this hypothetical, the sole responsibility for the unreasonable search lies with a deliberate law enforcement decision. Absent "explicit protection or cover" from this Court or the Supreme Court, *Debruhl*, 38 A.3d at 297, the officer must use his own discretion, weighing for himself the pros and cons of conducting the possibly lawful (but possibly not) search. But "[t]he right of privacy was deemed too precious to entrust to the discretion of those whose job is the detection of crime and the arrest of criminals. . . . [H]istory shows that the police acting on their own cannot be trusted." *McDonald*, 335 U.S. at 456. The exclusionary rule applies in this scenario because it deters constitutional violations by "creat[ing] an incentive to err on the side of constitutional behavior" for the officer, who is susceptible to such incentives because he has a stake in the outcome of the prosecution. *Sparks*, 711 F.3d at 64; *(Willie Gene) Davis*, 564 U.S. at 250 (Sotomayor, J., concurring).

Here, by the same deterrence logic underlying *Debruhl*, *Jones*, and the Supreme Court's exclusionary rule cases, the exclusionary rule applies to the warrantless searches that CSOSA conducted based on a legally erroneous interpretation of its limited authority. No provision in CSOSA's enabling statute explicitly permitted the Agency to conduct warrantless searches; that law instead dictated that CSOSA's authority was the same as that possessed by federal probation officers, who clearly may not unilaterally conduct warrantless searches. CSOSA's GPS search policy rested on a series of inferences about whether it had authority to unilaterally impose "sanctions" and, crucially, whether that sanction authority

included the power to conduct warrantless searches. Even if under some strain of argumentation such inferences could be deemed reasonable, the lack of "explicit protection or cover" from a neutral third party necessarily should have left any objectively reasonable law enforcement agency with some doubt about the legality of its search policy. Left to decide between pursuing or abandoning the search policy of uncertain legality, the threat of exclusion encourages CSOSA to err on the side of constitutional behavior and thus deters Fourth Amendment violations. In other words, the deterrence rationale for exclusion in this circumstance is identical to that on which *Debruhl* turned, and dictates the outcome here.¹⁹

In any event, while *Debruhl* teaches that suppression does not hinge on the supposed reasonableness of law enforcement's interpretation of search and seizure authority, CSOSA's interpretation of its legal authority to conduct warrantless searches was decidedly unreasonable. CSOSA unreasonably relied for its warrantless search authority on a Parole Commission regulation, 28 C.F.R. § 2.85,

¹⁹ *Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. 54 (2014) (cited at Gov't Br. 37), is not to the contrary. That case did not address the question of remedies for a Fourth Amendment violation; its holding was limited to whether an officer's reasonable mistake about the scope of a penal law could support reasonable suspicion "that the defendant's conduct was illegal," such that there was no constitutional violation in the first place. *Id.* at 66; *see also id.* at 69 n.1 (Kagan, J., concurring) (noting that both the majority opinion and the Solicitor General agree that "one kind of mistaken legal judgment— an error about the contours of the Fourth Amendment itself—can never support a search or seizure"). Moreover, *Heien*'s rationale that officers in the field often "have to make a quick decision on the law" does not apply to official policy decisions like the one CSOSA made here. *Id.* at 66. And *Heien* certainly does not support extending the good faith exception to unreasonable interpretations of search authority like the one here. *See id.* at 67 ("[A]n officer can gain no Fourth Amendment advantage through a sloppy study of the laws he is duty-bound to enforce.").

that said *nothing* about warrantless searches and has said nothing about sanctions since 2003. *See supra* p. 12; 68 Fed. Reg. at 41,700 (listing 2003 amendments to 28 C.F.R. § 2.85). The only place where the Parole Commission's regulations mention warrantless searches is in the list of "*conditions*" that "we" (the Parole Commission) "may impose." 28 C.F.R. § 2.204(b)(2) (emphasis added). CSOSA could not reasonably read that regulation as authorizing *CSOSA officers* to unilaterally conduct warrantless searches as *sanctions*, especially given the Commission's unwavering position that CSOSA officers may not conduct such searches without consent or "conditions of release that specifically permit" them. *Davis*, 306 A.3d at 107 (quoting Parole Commission Rules and Procedures Manual § 2.204–18(d)(1)).

CSOSA has never relied on D.C. Code § 24-133(b)(2)(F) as authority for its officers to conduct warrantless searches—that argument appears to have been concocted by the United States post hoc—but even if it had, such reliance would be objectively unreasonable. As explained above, *see supra* pp. 8–9, Congress unambiguously gave CSOSA the same authority possessed by federal probation officers in the federal supervised release system. *Davis*, 306 A.3d at 100. Federal statutes, in turn, make clear that federal probation officers—and thus, CSOSA officers—have no authority to conduct warrantless searches unless the court (or here, the Parole Commission) explicitly includes such searches as a condition of release. *Id.* at 100, 105. Indeed, that "allocation of authority appears clear enough" that no one in *Davis* could "identify any case from the federal courts of appeals where a federal probation officer sought to or did impose GPS monitoring on a person

without court approval, let alone one where a court blessed this practice." *Id.* at 105 n.11.

It is unreasonable, within that statutory context, to interpret the Director's authority to "[d]evelop and operate intermediate sanctions" as allowing CSOSA officers to conduct warrantless searches that their federal counterparts clearly cannot. D.C. Code § 24-133(b)(2)(F). To start, it strains credulity to think that Congress would have wedged such immense liberty-affecting authority in a list that otherwise gives the CSOSA Director mundane administrative powers like the ability to submit appropriation requests, hire officers, and coordinate supervision with other jurisdictions. See id. § 24-133(b)(2)(A), (C), (J); Dolan v. U.S. Postal Serv., 546 U.S. 481, 487 (2006) ("A word is known by the company it keeps—a rule that is often wisely applied where a word is capable of many meanings in order to avoid the giving of unintended breadth to the Acts of Congress." (internal quotation marks omitted)). Indeed, examining how Congress used the term elsewhere in the Revitalization Act, Davis emphasized that "intermediate sanctions" "clearly described sentencing options . . . for courts," giving the Director a power, much more in line with the others listed in § 24-133(b)(2), to develop alternate sentencing programs from which courts can choose. Davis, 306 A.3d at 103 (emphases in original).

Regardless, to read § 24-133 "as a coherent whole," the statute's provision granting certain powers to the Director cannot be understood "to grant CSOSA an administrative sanction authority that encroaches upon or overtakes the Parole Commission's adjudicatory authority." *Id.* at 104. Though the term "intermediate

sanctions" might be susceptible to two "permissible readings . . . when viewed in the abstract," Pulsifer v. United States, 144 S. Ct. 718, 737 (2024), courts (and agencies) do not read statutes in the abstract.²⁰ Here, following the cardinal rule of statutory construction that a term's meaning depends on context, § 24-133(d)'s unambiguous limitation of CSOSA's authority to that granted by law to federal probation officers definitively forecloses a broad construction of § 24-133(b)(2)(F). Thus, when the term "intermediate sanctions" is viewed in its statutory context, "[t]he two possible readings ... reduce to one." *Pulsifer*, 144 S. Ct. at 737. These bedrock principles of statutory construction eliminate any ambiguity and leave no room for the interpretation that the government now seeks to attribute to CSOSA. See Entergy Corp. v. Riverkeeper, Inc., 556 U.S. 208, 218 n.4 (2009) ("[S]urely if Congress has directly spoken to an issue then an agency interpretation contradicting what Congress has said would be unreasonable.").²¹ Accordingly, "[t]he circumstances of this case"-a law enforcement agency expanding its search authority through unreasonable legal interpretations—"are precisely those we want to deter and amply justify the application of the exclusionary rule." Hooks, 208 A.3d at 750.

²⁰ See, e.g., Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Boston & Me. Corp., 503 U.S. 407, 417 (1992) ("In ascertaining whether the agency's interpretation is a permissible construction of the language, a court must look to the structure and language of the statute as a whole.").

²¹ See also, e.g., Michigan v. E.P.A., 576 U.S. 743, 751–54 (2015) (examining statutory context to hold that agency interpretation was unreasonable); *D.C. Off. of Tax & Revenue v. BAE Sys. Enter. Sys., Inc.*, 56 A.3d 477, 481–85 (D.C. 2012) (holding that "agency interpretation . . . [was] unreasonable in light of statutory text, history, and purpose," *id.* at 481, in part because it ran afoul of principle that statute "should be interpreted as a harmonious whole," *id.* at 483).

iii. Exclusion is especially warranted here, where the relevant decision is a deliberate policy choice.

The justification for the exclusionary rule is even stronger than usual here, because "the relevant decision[s]" that the rule will alter are deliberate, agencywide policy choices. *Krull*, 480 U.S. at 360 n.17. The Supreme Court has always maintained that exclusion is appropriate if it would meaningfully "alter the behavior of individual law enforcement officers *or the policies of their departments.*" (*Willie Gene*) Davis, 564 U.S. at 246 (emphasis added) (quoting Leon, 468 U.S. at 918). Here, exclusion would accomplish that goal directly, by requiring CSOSA policymakers to weigh the consequence of suppression when choosing among policies that directly implicate Fourth Amendment rights.

It is common sense that law enforcement policies related to search procedures are especially responsive to the threat of exclusion. There is no question that the exclusionary rule applies to on-the-fly police judgment calls about whether to stop or search someone on the street. *See, e.g., T.W. v. United States*, 292 A.3d 790,792–93 (D.C. 2023) ("The government concedes that, if officers did in fact seize T.W. before he consented to a pat-down search, . . . the motion to suppress should have been granted."). And if the threat of suppression has a salutary effect on the conduct of the hurried officer on the street, it must all the more beneficially affect formal search policies, which are made with study and deliberation. If CSOSA knew that it could reap the benefits of any given search policy without sowing the costs of suppression when that policy is later held unlawful, it "would have little incentive to err on the side of constitutional behavior." *(Willie Gene) Davis*, 564 U.S. at 250

(Sotomayor, J., concurring) (quoting *United States v. Johnson*, 457 U.S. 537, 561 (1982)). "[T]he message of a 'good-faith' exception operating in this area" would be "that even if a regulation does not satisfy the requirements of the [Fourth] Amendment, it will nonetheless provide 'a grace period during which the police may freely perform unreasonable searches." 4 LaFave, Search & Seizure § 1.3(i) (6th ed., Mar. 2024 update) (quoting *Krull*, 480 U.S. at 366 (O'Connor, J., dissenting)).

Experience backs up common sense. Scholars and courts alike have noted that law enforcement policies are consistently shaped "according to admissibility rather than legality." Donald Dripps, The Fourth Amendment, the Exclusionary Rule, and the Roberts Court, 85 CHI.-KENT L. REV. 209, 210 (2010). As just one example, consider the law enforcement response to Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298 (1985). The Court held there that an officer's failure to give Miranda warnings required suppression of the immediately resulting statements, but not of subsequent statements made after a *Miranda* waiver. 470 U.S. at 309. Twenty years later, "[t]he technique of interrogating in successive, unwarned and warned phrases," designed to deliberately circumvent *Miranda*, was taught in national police training seminars and had become "departmental policy" in law enforcement agencies across the country. Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 609-11 (2004). As the Court noted, "some training programs advise officers to omit *Miranda* warnings altogether or to continue questioning after the suspect invokes his rights," knowing that any resulting statements may still be used for impeachment. Id. at 610 n.2.²²

²² The sort of law enforcement policies described in *Seibert* are not an anomaly. *See also, e.g., United States v. Payner*, 447 U.S. 727, 730–31 (1980) (describing how

In at least one case, this Court has not hesitated to apply the exclusionary rule to a search where the law enforcement officer "acted in accordance with official policy." Akinmboni v. United States, 126 A.3d 694, 700 (D.C. 2015). That case illustrates the vast difference between searches conducted in reliance on law enforcement policy and those conducted in reliance on specific judicial or legislative authorization. The Court held that a search of Mr. Akinmboni's anal cavity in the Superior Court cellblock was unreasonable because it was conducted "without the involvement of medical personnel." Id. at 697. In so holding, the Court noted that the U.S. Marshal who conducted the search "acted in accordance with official policy," explaining that this "does not by itself establish that the search was reasonable." Id. at 700. The Court held that the evidence obtained as a result of the unconstitutional search was "inadmissible as evidence of Mr. Akinmboni's guilt." Id. at 701 (citing Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961)). That straightforward application of the exclusionary rule would certainly have looked different if the officer had acted, not in accordance with official law enforcement policy, but instead in strict compliance with binding appellate precedent authorizing the search, see (Willie Gene) Davis, 564 U.S. at 240-41, or in reliance on a statute authorizing the

government agents deliberately conducted an unconstitutional search of one person in order to obtain evidence against a third party, knowing that the third party would lack standing to challenge the search); Dripps at 238 ("[T]here are plenty of reported cases in which the police deliberately exploited the standing rule to obtain incriminating evidence against a target other than the search victim."); David Alan Sklansky, *Is the Exclusionary Rule Obsolete?*, 5 OHIO ST. J. CRIM. L. 567, 580–81 (2008) (explaining that "[w]ithout the remedy of the exclusionary rule . . . California police officers are now trained to ignore" "the ban that California constitutional law places on warrantless searches of trash placed at curbside").

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